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ИНФИНИТИВ 
THE INFINITIVE 

 
1. Инфинитив – неличная форма глагола, называющая действие, но не 

указывающая ни лица, ни числа, ни наклонения. 
2. Формальный признак инфинитива – частица to. 
3. Чаще всего инфинитив употребляется после глагола в личной форме, 

либо после модального глагола: 
I like to dance. I can dance. 

4. Частица to опускается: 
 после вспомогательных глаголов: 
I don`t know her. 
We shall go there at once. 
 после модальных глаголов: 
You can`t do it. 
You must consult the doctor. 
 после глаголов чувственного восприятия (to see, to hear, to feel, to 

watch, to notice, etc.) в конструкции «сложное дополнение»: 
I’ve never seen you look so well. 
She heard him enter the room. 
I felt my heart jump.

Примечание: после этих глаголов в пассивном залоге употребляется 
инфинитив с частицей to: 

He was heard to mention your name. 
She was seen to leave the house early in the morning. 
 после глагола to let (разрешать): 
Let`s be friends. 
If he calls, let me know. 
 после глаголов to make, to force (заставлять), to need (нужно) и to dare 

(сметь, осмеливаться): 
What makes you think so? 
Need I do it? 
How dare you call me a liar? 
 после слов than, rather than, but, except: 
I`ll do anything but work with children. 
Rather than walk for half an hour, I`ll take a taxi. 
 Would rather/sooner (…бы, пожалуй), cannot but (не могу не…) и др.: 
He said he would rather stay at home. 
You had better go there at once. 
I can`t but think about it. 
 в предложениях, начинающихся с Why (not) (почему бы вам…). 
Why not come and talk to her yourself? 

 



 

5. В английском языке инфинитив имеет формы временной отнесенности 
и залога. Каждая из четырех групп времен имеет свою форму инфинитива. 
Инфинитив в предложении выражает относительное время по отношению к 
сказуемому. 

 
He is said to examine his patients very carefully. (одновременные действия) 

Говорят, он осматривает своих больных очень внимательно. 
He is said to have examined his patients carefully. (предшествование) 

Говорят, он осмотрел своих пациентов внимательно. 
He was said to examine his patients carefully. (одновременные действия) 

Говорили, что он осматривает своих больных внимательно. 
He was said to have examined his patients carefully. (предшествование) 
Говорили, что он осмотрел (раньше) своих больных внимательно. 

 
В первом и третьем примерах действия, выраженные сказуемым и 

инфинитивом, совпадают во времени исполнения, независимо от того, 
относятся они к настоящему или прошедшему периоду. Во втором и 
четвертом примерах действия, выраженные инфинитивом, предшествуют 
действию сказуемого, и выражается это с помощью перфектной формы 
инфинитива. 

ФОРМЫ ИНФИНИТИВА 
 Active Passive 

Indefinite to V1 to be Ved / 3
Continuous to be Ving — 

Perfect to have Ved / 3 to have been Ved / 3
Perfect 

Continuous to have been Ving — 

 
Indefinite and Continuous Infinitive выражают действия, одновременные с 

глаголом - сказуемым. 
I want to go home! – Я хочу пойти домой! 
I wanted to go home then. – Я хотел пойти домой тогда. 
I am glad to be speaking with you. – Я рад, что разговариваю с тобой. 
Perfect and Perfect Continuous Infinitive выражают действие, 

предшествовавшее глаголу-сказуемому. 
It is very nice of you to have come here. -  
He must have forgotten about it. – Должно быть, он забыл об этом. 
I am glad to have spoken with you. – Я рад, что поговорил с тобой. 
Отрицательная форма: not + инфинитив: 
To be, or not to be: that is the question. 
 
 

 



 

6.Функции инфинитива в предложении. 
Инфинитив может выполнять функцию любого члена предложения, 

кроме сказуемого (оно может входить в составное сказуемое). 
a) Инфинитив – подлежащее (переводится на русский язык 

неопределенной формой глагола или отглагольным существительным): 
To treat a far advanced case of ulcer is very difficult. 
Лечить запущенный случай язвы очень трудно. 
To perform bypass surgery in alimentary canal requires skill. 

Проведение шунтирования у больных с опухолями желудочно-кишечного 
тракта требует большого умения. 

b) инфинитив – часть составного глагольного сказуемого: 
You must follow the doctor’s instructions very carefully. 
Вы должны тщательно выполнять указания врача. 
You will have to stop smoking. 
Вам придется бросить курить. 
He agreed to give the patient a consultation. 
Он согласился проконсультировать больного. 

c) инфинитив – дополнение: 
The doctor advised him to stay in bed for two or three days. 
Врач посоветовал ему оставаться в постели дня два-три. 

ПРИМЕЧАНИЕ: если дополнение выражено сложной формой 
инфинитива, то оно переводится придаточным предложением, которое 
вводится союзом «что» или «чтобы». 

The surgeon asked to be assisted. 
Хирург попросил, чтобы ему ассистировали. 

d) инфинитив – определение (часто следует за словами the first, the last и т.п.) 
The patient to be operated on is a well-controlled diabetic. 
Больной, которого будут оперировать, - хорошо компенсированный 

диабетик. 
Our clinic was the first to apply this technique. 
Наша клиника была первой, где (в которой) применили эту методику. 

e) инфинитив – обстоятельство (переводится обстоятельственным 
придаточным предложением цели с союзами «чтобы, для того, чтобы»): 

To perform such an operation one must be an experienced surgeon. 
Для того чтобы выполнить такую операцию, нужно быть опытным 

хирургом. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 



 

EXERCISES 
 

I. Translate the sentences into English, paying attention to the Infinitive. 
1. To take part in the concert was a real pleasure. 
2. To master medicine one must work hard. 
3. We had to change the time of our meeting. 
4. She wants to accept your offer. 
5. He wants to be admitted to the University. 
6. He is happy to have been admitted to the University. 
7. There were many interesting things at the lecture to attract our attention. 
8. He was the first to learn about it. 
9. I am afraid not to see her. 
10. He pretended not to hear the question. 
11. This is the dose to be taken. 
12. I am eager to tell you that I am a second-year student. 
13. My duty will be to treat people for different diseases. 
14. I arranged everything to be admitted into the University. 
15. I had to get a certificate of health. 
16. Dr. Ivanov asked me to take a seat. 
17. Then he wanted to know what my troubles were. 
18. After the examination the doctor began to fill in my patient’s card. 
19. I always follow the prescribed treatment to be well again as soon as possible. 
20. If one doesn’t follow the treatment this may cause serious complications. 
 
II. Fill in “to” where it is necessary. 
1. The operation cannot ... be performed today. 
2. I asked her not ... take the stitches out. 
3. The surgeon asked me not ... worry. 
4. Let me ... help you with your work. 
5. I don’t know how ... give first aid in this case. 
6. You’d better ... take an aspirin. You look bad. 
7. We have come ... ask whether there is anything we can ... do. 
8. I cannot  ... go there now, I have some work ... do. 
9. You must make him ... practice an hour a day. 
10. I asked mother ... let me ... go to the disco. 
11. He is not sure that it can ... be done, but he wants ... try. 
12. You are cold. You’d better ... sit near the fireplace. 
13. I felt someone ... touch my suppurative wound. 
14. Please, help me ... translate it. 
15. I like ... carry on experiments. We must ... do it regularly. 
16. I would rather ... listen to the radio than ... see this soap opera on TV. – As 

for me, I prefer ... watch TV. You’d better ... take a radio and ... go for a walk. 

 



 

17. My brother can ... put dressings very well. 
18. We had ... put on our white gowns and caps. 
19. May I use ... your telephone? 
20. I would rather ... put the fractured bone in plaster of Paris. 
21. You look tired. You had better ... go home and have a rest. 
22. Do you like ... take part in autopsy? 
23. Would you like ...learn how ... use a computer? 
24. Would you like ... listen to the lecture about modern methods of treatment? 
25. I want to get thinner, so I’d rather ... walk than ... go by car. 
26. Would you like ... take part in this competition? 
III. Use Perfect Infinitive for previous actions 
Model: We are glad to see you. 
             We are glad to have seen you. 
1. She is happy to help you. 
2. I am glad to be invited to the party. 
3. She is sorry to keep you waiting. 
4. I am sorry to trouble you. 
5. He is happy to take part in putting dressings. 
6. I am happy to cope with the work. 
7. She is sorry to miss the lecture. 
8. He is happy to help the surgeon. 
9. I am sorry not to follow your advice. 
10. I am happy to make a correct diagnosis myself. 
11. The patient is happy to undergo a course of treatment. 
12. I am glad to keep the fever down. 
13. The doctor is glad to make the daily round. 
IV. Change the subordinate clauses for the Infinitives 
Model: He is sorry that he has said it. 
            He is sorry to have said it. 
1. I am glad that I have met you. 
2. She is happy that she has found such a nice place to live in. 
3. He was happy that he was praised by everybody. 
4. He was very proud  that he had helped his elder brother. 
5. The patient is glad that he has survived the operation. 
6. The surgeon is glad that he removed a tumour of the stomach successfully. 
7. She is glad that she prevented a fatal outcome. 
8. I am sorry that I have hurt your hand. 
9. I am glad that I haven’t caused you any pain.  
10. I remembered that I had seen that girl before. 
11. She was glad that she had been taken to the theatre. 
12. He was glad that he had learned his homework at last. 

 



 

V. Use Passive Infinitive instead of Active Infinitive 
Model 1: We are glad to meet you. 
                We are glad to be met by you. 
1. He agreed to operate. 
2. I am glad we have cured of this disease. 
3. She does not want to ask about it. 
4. The child wants to tell the story. 
5. It is interesting to meet new people. 
6. She agreed to treat him. 
7. She agreed to discharge the patient. 
Model 2: We must admit him to the hospital 
        He must be admitted to the hospital. 
1. You must rub in this ointment regularly. 
2. They must transfuse some more blood. 
3. She must give injections. 
4. He must follow a strict diet. 
5. She must take my blood pressure. 
6. We must admit him to the hospital. 
7. She must record his name and place of employment. 
VI. Use the necessary form of the Infinitive 
1. He seems (to read) a lot.  
2. He seems (to read) now. 
3. He seems (to read) since morning.  
4. He seems (to read) all the books in the library.  
5. I want (to take) you to the operation. 
6. I want (to take) to the operation by my father. 
7. I hope (to help) my friends. 
8. I hope (to help) by my friends. 
9. The students seem (to prepare) for the exams well. 
10. They seem (to prepare) for the exams now. 
11. They seem (to prepare) for the exams for 3 days. 
12. They seem (to pass) the exams yesterday. 
13. I am glad (to perform) that operation yesterday. 
14. She seems (to work) at this problem ever since she came here. 
15. I hate (to bother) you, but the students are still waiting (to give) books for 

their work. 
16. He began writing books not because he wanted (to earn) a living. He 

wanted (to read) and not (to forget). 
17. He considers himself lucky (to graduate) from our University and (to 

work) as a surgeon. 
18. They are supposed (to work) at the problem for the last two months. 
19. They seemed (to wait) for ages. 

 



 

VII. Translate into English:  
1. Кажется, он очень хочет поступить в университет. 
2. Кажется, она окончила медуниверситет 3 или 4 года назад. 
3. Я рада, что мы сейчас проводим этот эксперимент. 
4. Я рада, что мы проводили такие эксперименты раньше. 
5. Вы должны  законспектировать эти лекции. 
6. Вы можете справиться с этой работой? 
7. Вы должны сделать рентген легких, анализы крови и мочи. 
8. Где она? – Она, должно быть, сейчас дежурит. 
9. Больные любят, когда их лечат. 
10. Я рада, что меня лечили в этой больнице. 
11. Она бы хотела, чтобы ее обследовали. 
12. Она бы хотела, чтобы ее обследовали раньше. 
13. Он хочет, чтобы ему назначили тонизирующее средство. 
14. Мне очень жаль, что я пропустила эту интересную лекцию. 
15. Она счастлива, что приостановила процесс болезни. 
16. Студенты довольны, что им преподавал этот опытный хирург. 
17. Больной доволен, что его приняли в областную больницу. 
18. Выздоравливающие довольны, что их выписывают.  
19. Выздоравливающие были довольны, что их выписали до Нового Года. 
20. Мама довольна, что ей выписали это лекарство. 
21. Она заставила меня принять это лекарство. 
22. Пусть она купит это эффективное лекарство. 
23. Я, пожалуй, попарю ноги, а вам бы лучше полежать 2-3 дня в постели. 
24. Ребенок не любит принимать рыбий жир, а мама заставляет сына 

принимать его. 
25. Аптекари должны наклеивать этикетки трех цветов на бутылочки и 

коробочки. 
26. Она не любит поступать в больницу. 
27. Он рад, что его уже прооперировали по поводу острого аппендицита. 
28. Он рад, что остановил обильное кровотечение из раны. 
29. Она рада, что сопоставила сломанную кость и наложила гипс сама. 
30. Он, кажется, оперирует уже 3 часа. 
 
VIII. Change the sentences, using Infinitive as an attribute:  
Model:  This is a list of words which must be learnt. 
              This is a list of words to be learnt. 
1. We’ll find someone who will help us if you are busy. 
2. The work which must be done by the students includes written translation. 
3. He was the first who made a correct diagnosis. 
4. This is the article which must be studied thoroughly. 
5. He was the first who called in an ambulance. 

 



 

6. He wished he had someone of whom he could take care. 
7. I have nothing definite that I can tell him. 
8. It is important that we have all modern equipment. 
9. She is the last who will be asked. 
10. He is the first who must be operated on. 
11. He is the only one among us who gave up smoking. 
12. I was the next who spoke on the topic. 
13. I was the first who asked this question. 
14. She was the second who got an excellent mark.  
15. I am the next who will be interviewed. 
16. He was the only one who could speak Japanese. 
 
IX . Change the subordinate clauses for Infinitives 
Model:  He is so old that he cannot work. 
              He is too old to work. 
1. The problem is so difficult that it is impossible to solve it.  
2. The patient is so heavy that two nurses can not lift him up. 
3. He is so weak that he cannot walk about the room. 
4. She is so busy that she cannot talk with you. 
5. She was so inattentive that she did not notice the mistake. 
6. The rule was so difficult that they did not understand it. 
7. The surgeon was so young that he could not perform a complex operation. 
8. The gangrene was so big that it was impossible to treat it, so the surgeon 

amputated the leg. 
9. She is so rude that she cannot handle patients properly. 
10. He is so old that he cannot survive the operation. 
 
X. Change the subordinate clauses for Infinitives: 
 Model:  The boy had many hobbies which he could enjoy. 
               The boy had many hobbies to enjoy. 
1. Have you got anything that you want to say on this subject? 
2. There was nothing that he could do except go home. 
3. Is there anybody who will help you with your English? 
4. Don’t forget that she has a baby which she must take care of.  
5. I have an examination which I must take soon, so I can’t go to the theatre with you. 
6. Here is a new brush which you will clean your teeth with. 
7. Here are some more facts which will prove that your theory is correct. 
8. Here are some tablets which will relieve your headache. 
9. Here are some articles which must be translated for tomorrow. 
10. I have brought you a book which you can read now, but be sure to return it 

by Saturday. 
11. Soon we found that there was another complication which we had to treat.  

 



 

12. There are some more patients who will have to be operated on today. 
13. These are the drugs that will arrest the bleeding. 
14. This is the operation that will prevent a fatal outcome. 
 
XI. Make up sentences according to the model 
Model: time / he / come back. – It’s time for him to come back. 
1. High time / we / say good-bye to everybody. 
2. Time / the children / go to bed. 
3. Time / she / put up with his behaviour. 
4. High time / they / develop a new model. 
5. Time / we / assist in putting dressings. 
6. High time / he / speak English fluently. 
7. Time / she / choose a profession. 
8. High time / he / ring me up. 
9. High time / you / know this material. 
10. High time / you / understand me. 
 
ХII. Change the sentences, using Infinitive as a modifier of purpose  
Model: They sent me to England. 
             They wanted me to learn English. 
a) They sent to England to learn English. 
b) They sent me to England in order (so as) to learn English. 
1. The best students attend a scientific circle. They want to take part in 

research work. 
2. The nurse went to the laboratory. She wanted to get the findings of the 

analyses. 
3. The surgeons went to the scrub-up room. They had to get ready for the 

operation. 
4. My friend went to the chemist’s. She wanted to buy some medicine. 
5. We are very attentive. We want to learn a lot in class. 
6. I stayed there. I wanted to see what would happen. 
7. You should know all the facts if you want to understand the importance of 

this event. 
8. He worked hard. He did not want to fail the exam. 
9. She took the patient’s card. She had to fill it in. 
10. A well-know professor has come to Gomel. He has to deliver a lecture to 

our students. 
11. I am reading medical journals. I want to make a report. 
12. He went to the polyclinic. He had to X-ray his lungs. 
13. She took off her shoes. She didn’t want to make any noise. 
14. They are saving money. They want to buy a car. 
15. We entered the medical University. We want to become doctors. 

 



 

16. He works at the patients’ bedside. He wants to treat them for different 
diseases. 

17. He called me. He wanted to tell that he loved me. 
18. He attends a scientific circle. He is eager to become a research worker. 
19. We study a lot of subjects. Soon we shall work as doctors at polyclinics 

and in hospitals of Belarus. 
20. I take care of myself. I want to be a healthy person. 
21. The body is covered with the skin. It must protect organs against damage 

and infection. 
22. She follows the diet strictly. She wants to recover soon. 
23. I went to the polyclinic. I had to get my certificate of health. 
 
XIII. Translate into Russian 
1. The most convenient approach to an understanding of metabolism is to 

examine the properties of different sorts of food. 
2. It is interesting to see the apparatus used to determine the caloric value of 

different food-stuffs. 
3. From the intestines glucose to be absorbed and carried to the liver is 

converted there into a form of carbohydrate, glycogen or animal starch. 
4. To reduce weight for an obese patient is an important problem. 
5. Fat yields 9 calories of heat per gram instead of the 4 calories to be yielded 

by sugar. 
6. Muscle fibres have the power to store glycogen. 
7. The secret of a proper diet depends much on the ability of the cook or a 

dietician to prepare and serve meals which are palatable and tasty to the individual. 
8. Average intake of protein necessary to maintain nitrogen equilibrium is 42 

grams per day. 
9. Practically all the chloride to be involved in metabolism enters and leaves 

the body in combination with sodium. 
10. In calculating the energy content of foods it is important to recognize that 

cooking may reduce the caloric content considerably. 
11. In order to satisfy hunger adequate bulk must be preserved in meals. 
12. In an experiment to measure the sensitivity of the reaction good results 

were achieved. 
13. The industries of all countries spend millions to fight air pollution. 
14. The patients to be examined suffered from smoke intoxication. 
15. To avoid air pollution from domestic coal fires (as those in London) new 

heating systems have to be introduced. 
16. The case to be described illustrates the difficulties in the diagnosis of 

angina pectoris. 
17. The desinfection of the skin of the region to be operated is to be carried 

out immediately. 

 



 

XIV. Translate into English
1. Мы изучаем медицину, чтобы лечить больных. 
2. Мы много работаем, чтобы справиться с программой обучения. 
3. Она была госпитализирована, чтобы тщательно обследоваться. 
4. Я пошла в поликлинику, чтобы записаться к участковому терапевту. 
5. Она пьет теплое молоко, чтобы не болело горло. 
6. Надень теплое пальто, чтобы не простудиться. 
7. Она поехала в деревню, чтобы позаботиться о своей маме. 
8. Следуйте назначенному лечению, чтобы не было осложнений после болезни. 
9. У нее болело горло и она купила антисептическое полослание, чтобы 

полоскать горло 5-6 раз в день. 
10. Мы госпитализируем Вас, чтобы остановить процесс воспаления. 
11. Вы должны соблюдать строгий постельный режим, чтобы 

поправиться как можно быстрее. 
12. Я пойду в поликлинику, чтобы мне назначили эффективное лечение. 
13. Он пошел в аптеку, чтобы заказать лекарства по рецептам. 
14. Вы должны быть очень осторожны, чтобы не причинить 

дополнительной боли. 
15. Принимайте это лекарство, чтобы не страдать от одышки. 

*Запомните следующие предложения и словосочетания с инфинитивом: 

I have nothing to read. Мне нечего читать. 
She had nobody to speak with. Ей не с кем поговорить. 
What is to be done? Что делать? 
Who is to blame? Кто виноват? 
I am not to blame. Я не виноват. 
To see is to believe. Видеть – значит верить. 
He was the first (the last) to come. Он пришел первым (последним). 
It is out of the question to go there. Не может быть и речи о том, чтобы 

идти туда. 
to cut a long story short короче говоря 
to tell (you) the truth сказать (вам) по правде 
to say nothing of не говоря уже о 
to put it mildly мягко выражаясь 
to say the least of it по меньшей мере 
to begin with начнем с того 

*XV . Translate into English:  
1. Что делать в данном случае? 
2. Начнем с того, что он серьёзно болен. 
3. Чтобы читать по-английски в оригинале, вы должны хорошо знать язык. 
4. Мягко выражаясь, он не прав. 

 



 

5. Она была не виновата. 
6. Ребенку не с кем играть. 
7. Чтобы успеть на этот поезд, вы должны поторопиться. 
8. Не может быть и речи о покупке компьютера в этом году. 
9. Сказать по правде, мне это не нравится. 
10. Им было нечего есть и негде было жить. 
11. Мне не с кем обсудить эту проблему. 
12. Кто виноват? 
13. Короче говоря, он не следовал назначенному лечению. 
14. В нашей группе Николай всегда первый задаёт вопросы. 
15. Мне нечего выбирать: в воскресенье я остаюсь дома. 
16. Вчера Аня пришла домой последней. 
17. Мне некуда больше спешить, мне некого больше любить. 
XVI. Translate into English 
1. Он хочет стать хирургом. 
2. Кажется, он сейчас оперирует. 
3. Он рад, что прооперировал успешно. 
4. Мы рады, что он оперирует в нашем хирургическом отделении уже много лет. 
5. Наши больные рады, что их оперирует очень опытный хирург. 
6. Я рада, что мне рассказали об этом. 
7. Нужно было удалить аппендикс. 
8. Я надеялась, что буду ассистировать ему. 
9. Они надеялись принять участие в конференции. 
10. Они сожалели, что не выиграли соревнование. 
11. Они рады, что последовали моему совету. 
12. Они могут хорошо учиться. 
13. Эти миндалины должны быть удалены. 
14. Его нужно госпитализировать. 
15. Ее спросили последней. 
16. Это больной, которого скоро будут оперировать. 
17. Это проблема, которую надо решить как можно скорее. 
18. Ломоносов был первым, кто применил русский язык в научных трудах. 
19. Пирогов был первым хирургом, кто проводил остеопластические операции. 
20. Вы достаточно умны, чтобы понять это. 
21. Она вошла в перевязочную, чтобы снять мне швы. 
22. Она старалась быть осторожной, чтобы не навредить больному. 
23. Она шла медленно, чтобы не вызвать одышку. 
24. Она надела теплое пальто, чтобы не простудиться. 
25. Наши студенты посещают научные кружки, чтобы принимать 

участие в исследовательской работе. 
26.Хорошо любить и быть любимым. 
27.Я пришел, чтобы сказать вам об этом. 

 



 

NOMINATIVE WITH THE INFINITIVE (COMPLEX SUBJECT) 
Оборот «Именительный падеж с инфинитивом» 

«СЛОЖНОЕ ПОДЛЕЖАЩЕЕ» 
 
Сложноподчиненные предложения типа It is said – говорят, It is reported – 

сообщают, It seems – кажется, It is likely – вероятно и др. можно заменить 
простыми предложениями со сложным подлежащим. 

Говорят, что они хорошо знают английский. 
It is said that they know English very well. -сложноподчиненное предложение. 

They are said to know English very well. -простое предложение со сложным 
подлежащим 

“They … to know” в составе сложного подлежащего Indefinite Infinitive 
выражает действие, одновременное со сказуемым: 

He is said to live in Minsk. – Говорят, что он живет в Минске. 
He was said to know several languages. – Говорили, что он знает несколько 

языков. 
 
Continuous Infinitive выражает длительное действие, одновременное со 

сказуемым: 
He is said to be writing a new book. – Говорят, что он пишет новую книгу. 
 
Perfect Infinitive выражает действие, предшествующее действию, 

выраженному сказуемым: 
He is said to have worked at the regional hospital. – Говорят, что он 

работал в областной больнице. 
 
Perfect Continuous Infinitive выражает длительное действие, 

совершавшееся в течение отрезка времени, предшествовавшего действию 
сказуемого: 

They are said to have been traveling about the country a lot. – Говорят, что 
они много путешествовали по стране. 

 
Случаи употребления 

1. Оборот «Именительный падеж с инфинитивом» употребляется, когда 
сказуемое выражено следующими глаголами в страдательном залоге: 

to say (is/are said) – говорить; 
to state (is/are stated) –заявлять,сообщать; 
to report – сообщать; 
to announce – объявлять; 
to believe – считать, полагать; 
to suppose – предполагать; 
to think – думать, считать; 

 



 

to expect – ожидать, предполагать; 
to know – знать; 
to understand – узнавать, иметь сведения; 
to consider – считать; 
to see – видеть; 
to hear – слышать и др. 

The disease is said to be very dangerous. 
Говорят, эта болезнь очень опасна. 
He is considered to be recovering soon. 
Считают, что он быстро поправляется. 

Примечания: 
• Infefinite Infinitive после глагола to expect (ожидать) обычно выражает 

действие, относящееся к будущему: He was expected to arrive in the evening. 
Ожидали, что он прибудет вечером. 

• После глагола to consider (считать) инфинитив, выраженный 
глаголом-связкой to be, иногда опускается: He is considered (to be) an 
experienced doctor. Он считается опытным врачом. 

 
2. Оборот именительный падеж с инфинитивом употребляется, когда 

сказуемое выражено следующими глаголами в действительном залоге: 
to seem – казаться; 
to appear – по-видимому; 
to turn out – оказаться; 
to happen – случаться; 
to chance – случаться. 

The weather appears to be improving. 
Погода, повидимому, улучшается. 
I happened to be there at that time. 
Случилось так, что я был там в это время. 

Примечание: 
После глаголов to seem, to appear глагол-связка to be часто опускается: 

The operation seemed (to be) dangerous. Казалось, что операция сложная. 
 
3.Сложное подлежащее употребляется, когда сказуемое выражено 

прилагательными в сочетании с глаголом-связкой “to be” 
likely (вероятный); 
unlikely (маловероятный); 
certain (несомненный); 
sure (верный)  
Indefinite Infinitive после этих прилагательных обычно выражает 

действие, относящееся к будущему:  
 

 



 

She is likely to follow a strict diet. 
Вероятно, она будет соблюдать строгую диету. 

This problem is unlikely to be discussed at the meeting. 
Маловероятно что (вряд ли) эта проблема будет обсуждаться на собрании. 

 
Инфинитивные обороты с прилагательным likely встречаются в 

определительных придаточных предложениях: The rash, that is likely to appear 
in a day or two, will be a clinical manifestation of scarlet fever. 

 
EXERCISES 

 
I. Choose the necessary form of the Infinitive. Translate the sentences into 

Russian. 
1. The patient was known … a bad pain accompanied by nausea a month 

before his present admission to the hospital. 
a) to have; b) to have had; c) to be having.  
2. Sensitivity to antibiotics was reported … not only in this girl but in all the 

other members of the family since their early age.  
a) to be present; b) to have been present.  
3. Skin irritation was revealed … after each administration of this preparation.  
a) to occur; b) to have occurred; c) to be occurring. 
4. Cholecystitis is known … rarely in isolated condition.  
a) to occur;  b) to have occurred.  
5. Operative treatment is known … by a course of antibiotic treatment.  
a) to follow; b) to be followed; c) to be following; d) to have followed; e )to 

have been followed; f) to have been following.  
6. The infectious diseases of man are known … into two large groups.  
a) to divide; b) to be divided; c) to be dividing; d) to have divided; e) to have 

been divided.  
7. He is known … twice a week.  
a) to operate; b) to be operating; c) to have operated; d) to have been operated.  
8. The boy was known … dull heart sounds since he was four years of age.  
a) to have; b) to be having; c) to have had.  
9. They seem …for the operation.  
a) to get ready; b) to be getting ready.  
10. They are said … the work already.  
a) to finish;  b) to be finishing;  c) to have finished. 
11. She seems … the analyses yesterday. 
a) to make;  b) to be making;  c) to have made.  
12. She is likely … from one of the most unpleasant complications of scarlet 

fever – running ears.  
a) to suffer; b) to be suffering; c) to have suffered.  

 



 

II. In the sentences with Complex Subject open the brackets and use the 
necessary form of the Infinitive. Translate the sentences into Russian. 

1. He is believed (to work) at an urgent problem now. 
2. They are believed (to go away) some days ago.  
3. We are supposed (to work) in the laboratory from 2 to 6 p.m. tomorrow.  
4. The new discovery in medicine is known (to make) a week ago.  
5. They are known (to make) an important discovery week ago.  
6. The dean is known (to help) them when they are in trouble. 
7. The dean is known (to help) them when they were in trouble. 
8. Pete is expected (to make) a report on Tuesday.  
9. She is considered (to be) a good children`s doctor.  
10. They were seen (to swim) for an hour.  
11. They are known (to discharge) from the hospital some days ago.  
III. Make the sentences with Complex Subject.  
Model: We heard that she entered our Medical University.  
             She was heard to enter our Medical University.  
1. It was expected that the new first-year students would be hard-working.  
2. They say it is rather difficult to study at the University.  
3. It is supposed that the scientists of our University carry on a number of 

important experiments. 
4. We know that N.I. Pirogov was a great Russian physician and surgeon. 
5. We know that closed and simple fractures heal better than open and 

compound ones.  
6. We know that surgeons get ready for operations in the scrub-up room.  
7. It is known that bleeding is arrested with a tourniquet. 
8. We saw that he was putting the stitches in. 
9. We saw that the patient was transported to the hospital.  
10. We heard that the patient complained of nausea.  
11. It is well known that prophylactic vaccination is carried out against a 

number of infectious diseases. 
12. It seems that the patient has become alert after these procedures. 
13. It proved that every infectious disease has not only characteristic clinical 

manifestation but also its own specific way of invasion into the human body.  
14. It was well known that the patient had been operated on for appendicitis a 

year before.  
15. It is stated that he is very bad, we`ll have to operate him right away.  
16. We know that she has been troubled with a bad cough for months . 
IV. Answer the questions using Complex Subject.  
1. How many people are expected to attend the conference? 
2. How well did he seem to know the subject? 
3. What clinic is considered (to be) the best in Gomel? 
4. What report is expected (to be) the most interesting?  

 



 

5. Where did you happen to be at this time yesterday?  
6. Did he prove (to be) a good student?  
7. Have you happened to operate on anybody?  
8. What place is this sportsman expected to take? 
9. Who proves to have strong immunity to infectious diseases?  
10. Why is she likely to lose her consciousness? 
11. What treatment are you supposed to undergo to avoid  complications? 
12. Does she seem to have scarlet fever mildly? 
 
V. Read and translate the sentences. Ask different questions to them.  
1. She seems to have made a great impression on him. 
2. He is known to be good at chess.  
3. She happened to be still in bed after a bad heart attack. 
4. The bacilli causing cholera are reported to have been recovered.  
 
VI. Translate into English.  
1. Известно, что он оперирует дважды в неделю.  
2. Выявили, что раздражение кожи появилось после введения этого 

препарата. 
3. Известно, что оперативное лечение сопровождается курсом лечения 

антибиотиками. 
4. Ожидают, что скорая доставит тяжелого больного. 
5. Сообщили, что больной поправляется.  
6. Вероятно, она страдает от какого-то серьезного осложнения. 
7. Сообщили, что первые симптомы появились за неделю до 

госпитализации больного.  
8. Говорят, что у этого мальчика с четырех лет глухие сердечные тоны.  
9. Объявили, что группа ученых закончила важные исследовательские 

эксперименты.  
10. Маловероятно, что она соблюдает строгий постельный режим.  
11. Несомненно, он соблюдает строгую диету с детства. 
 
VII. Translate into English.  
1. Говорят, наш мед.университет дает хорошие знания своим студентам. 
2. Говорили, что она успешно сдала конкурсные вступительные 

экзамены. 
3. Вероятно, выздоравливающие из нашей палаты будут выписаны на 

следующей неделе. 
4. Объявили, что конкурс между студентами 1, 2 и 3 курса состоится в 

начале мая.  
5. Полагают, она медленно выздоравливает после тяжелой болезни.  
6. Считают, что они сейчас принимают слишком много лекарств. 

 



 

7. Ожидали, что профессор из Минска приедет через два дня. 
8. Операция оказалась сложной. 
9. Лечение оказалось длительным.  
10. Вероятно, они примут участие в конкурсе. 
11. Он оказался хорошим студентом. 
 
VIII. Translate into Russian, paying attention to Complex Subject.  
1. She seems to be recovering soon. 
2. She seemed to be recovering soon.  
3. She seems to have recovered.  
4. She seemed to have recovered. 
5. The grippe turned out to have given serious complications.  
6. Making a diagnosis turned out (to be) rather difficult. 
7. The man appeared (to be) an experienced surgeon.  
8. Can you wait for me if I happen to be out? 
9. The students didn`t seem (to be) tired. 
10. The woman appeared to have been suffering from that disease for some 

months. 
11. Our graduates happened to be thoughtful doctors.  
12. This work seems (to be ) taking a lot of time.  
13. The methods of work appear (to be) very effective.  
 
IX. Make sentences with Complex Subject, using “happen+Infinitive” 
Model: Do you know Mr. Brown? – Do you happen to know Mr. Brown?  
1. I`ll give first aid if I am at a place of an accident.  
2. If you have such a symptom call to the first aid station. 
3. If you see Kate ask her to phone me, please.  
4. Do you know how to set a fractured bone? 
5. Does he know with whom Mary has gone to Minsk?  
6. If I see him I`ll ask about the results.  
7. Were you present at the discussion yesterday?  
 
X. Make sentences with Complex Subject, using turn out / prove + Infinitive.  
Model :He knew Mr. Brown. – He turned out / proved to know Mr. Brown.  
1. The talk with the ambulance doctor was very interesting.  
2. My marks at the entrance examinations were high. 
3. The outcome was unpleasant. 
4. She was a liar. 
5. Her knowledge of medicine was above the average. 
6. The weather in summer was hot.  
7. Our practical training was useful.  
8. That beautiful girl was my groupmate. 

 



 

9. The surgeon was getting ready for the operation.  
10. Physical exertion caused the attack of sharp pain. 
11. Hearty attitude was a good remedy.  
12. The findings of the analyses confirmed the initial diagnosis.  
 
XI. Change the sentences using Complex Subject  
Model: It appeared that they had lost the way. – They appeared to have lost the way. 
1. It seems that they know all about it. 
2. It seems they have heared all about it.  
3. It seemed the post-operative period was coming to an end. 
4. It seemed that the house had not been lived in for a long time. 
5. It appeared that he was losing strength. 
6. It appeared that he had not heard what had been said.  
7. It happened that I was present at his  birthday party.  
8. It so happened that we studied at the same University.  
9. It turned out that the case was too complicated. 
10. It turned out that the fracture was not serious.  
 
XII. Change the sentences using Complex Subject. 
1. It is likely that the conference will take place in three months. 
2. It is not likely that we shall get many things that we want. 
3. It is unlikely that they will have a good time at the party tonight. 
4. They will certainly get married soon.  
5. It is unlikely that they follow my advice.  
6. It is certain that he will come on Friday.  
7. It is certain that he loves his work. 
8. It is sure that these young people are very good friends. 
9. It is sure that they will come to an understanding. 
10. It is sure that this new course of treatment will help your grandmother.  
11. He will certainly win the competition. 
 
XIII. Translate into English using Complex Subject. 
1. Говорят, делегаты на конференцию уже приехали.  
2. Говорят, что он работает над своей темой уже несколько лет.  
3. Говорят, что эта статья переведена на многие языки.  
4. Сообщили, что двое студентов нашего университета поедут в Абердин. 
5. Сообщают, что известный профессор прочитает лекцию в нашем 

университете 20 февраля. 
6. Полагают, что заседание закончат в 6 часов.  
7. Считают, что он один из лучших хирургов Гомеля. 
8. Ожидают, что делегация японских ученых прибудет в Гомельский 

университет завтра.   

 



 

9. Известно, что профессор Куприянов первым применил гипотермию. 
10. Известно, что станция скорой помощи работает круглые сутки.  
11. Анатомию считают одним из самых важных предметов на первом курсе.  
12. Мне случалось слушать его раньше. 
13. Известно, что он один из самых лучших кардиологов.  
14. Говорят, они хорошо знают английский. 
15. Случилось так, что я был там в это время.  
16. Кажется, она поправляется. 
17. Маловероятно, что эта проблема будет обсуждаться на собрании.  
 

ОБОРОТ «ОБЪЕКТНЫЙ ПАДЕЖ С ИНФИНИТИВОМ» 
СЛОЖНОЕ ДОПОЛНЕНИЕ 

COMPLEX OBJECT 
 
Объектный инфинитивный оборот включает в себя объект – 

дополнение (существительное в именительном падеже либо местоимение в 
объектном) и инфинитив с to или без to, что зависит от глагола-сказуемого. 
Действие, выраженное инфинитивом, выполняет сам объект (дополнение), а 
не подлежащее главного предложения.  

I want him to come. – Я хочу, чтобы он пришел. 
I have never heard her sing. – Я никогда не слышал, как она поет. 

 
Конструкция Complex Object чаще всего переводится на русский язык 

дополнительными придаточными предложениями, вводимыми союзами как, 
что, чтобы. 

 
ПРИМЕЧАНИЕ: В русском языке аналогичная конструкция 

употребляется после глаголов попросить, заставлять и др. 
Он заставил Петра написать письмо.  
 
1. Конструкция Complex Object с инфинитивом с to употребляется: 
a) после глаголов, обозначающих умственную деятельность: 

to think, to consider, to believe ,to know (считать, полагать), to expect 
(ожидать, полагать), to suppose (полагать, предполагать), to find 
(находить, полагать) и др. 

I don`t expect them to get back before next Tuesday. 
Я полагаю, что они не вернутся раньше следующего вторника. 

 
ПРИМЕЧАНИЕ: После to consider, to find и др. в конструкции Complex 

Object обычно употребляется глагол to be, который часто опускается.  
Everyone found him (to be) a very nice man. 
Все нашли, что он очень приятный человек. 

 



 

Do you consider him (to be) a good student? 
Считаете ли вы его хорошим студентом? 

Если действие, выраженное инфинитивом, относится к подлежащему, то 
перед инфинитивом употребляется одно из возвратных местоимений myself, 
himself, herself и т.д. 

They considered themselves to be right. 
Они считали, что они правы. 

Возвратное местоимение после to expect не употребляется:  
He expects to be invited. – Он ожидает, что его пригласят. 

b) после глаголов и сочетаний, выражающих желание, ожидание: 
to wish, to want, should (would) like и др.  

I wish the matter to be settled today. 
Я хочу, чтобы этот вопрос был разрешен сегодня. 

He wishes the work to be done at once. 
Он желает, чтобы работа была сделана немедленно. 

I should like him to be invited to the party. 
Я бы хотела, чтобы его пригласили на вечеринку. 

 
Если действие, выраженное инфинитивом, относится к подлежащему, то 

местоимение перед инфинитивом не употребляется.  
I should like to be invited to the concert. 

Я хотела бы, чтобы меня пригласили на концерт. 
They don`t like to be asked about it. 

Они не любят, когда их спрашивают об этом. 
В этом случае нет оборота «Сложное дополнение», а инфинитив – часть 

составного глагольного сказуемого. 
c) после глаголов, обозначающих принуждение, приказ, разрешение, 

просьбу: 
to order приказывать, to tell, to ask, to allow позволять, разрешать и др. 

The doctor ordered the patient to be brought. 
Врач приказал доставить больного. 

He told his assistant to get everything ready. 
Он велел (приказал) своему помощнику все подготовить. 
Do you allow them to smoke? - Вы разрешаете им курить? 

 
Note: После глагола to ask всегда следует предлог for. 

She asked for the appointment to be made for 5o`clock. 
Она попросила записаться на 5 часов. 

Русские предложения, в которых инфинитив выражает действие, 
направленное на подлежащее, требует инфинитива в форме Passive. 

I asked to be informed of the time. 
Я попросил, чтобы мне сообщили время. 

 



 

2. Конструкция Complex Object с инфинитивом без to употребляется: 
a) после глаголов физического восприятия: 

to see, to hear, to feel (чувствовать),  
to watch (наблюдать), to notice (замечать) и др. 

For a while he watched people come in and go out. 
В течение некоторого времени он наблюдал за тем, как люди входили и выходили. 

После глаголов этой группы вместо Passive Infinitive  употребляется 
Participle 2. 

I heard  his name  mentioned during the conversation. 
Я слышал, как его имя упоминалось во время разговора. 

После глаголов to see, to notice вместо оборота «Сложное Дополнение», 
в котором инфинитив выражен глаголом to be, обычно употребляется 
дополнительное придаточное предложение. 

I saw that all the teachers were in the hall. 
Я видел, что все преподаватели были в зале. 

I saw that he was very excited. 
Я видел, что он очень взволнован. 

Когда в этом случае все же употребляется «Сложное дополнение», то 
перед инфинитивом be стоит частица to: 

I saw the room to be in disorder. 
Я увидел, что комната была в беспорядке. 

I saw the directions for the administration of the drug to be written on the 
signature. 

После глагола to see в значении понимать и to hear в значении узнавать 
употребляется придаточное дополнительное предложение, а не сложное 
дополнение. 

I heard that he had returned to Gomel. 
Я слышала (узнала), что он вернулся в Гомель. 

I see that you have made some progress in English. 
Я вижу (замечаю), что вы сделали успехи в английском языке. 

 
ПРИМЕЧАНИЕ: После глаголов to see, to hear, to watch и др. в конструкции 

Complex Object помимо Non-Continuous Infinitive, может употребляться Present 
Participle; однако здесь имеется определенное различие. Ср.: 

I saw him enter. – Я видела, что он вошел. 
(констатируется факт совершения действия). 
I saw him entering. – Я видела, как он входил. 

(подчеркивается процесс совершения одновременного действия). 
b) после глаголов to make заставлять, to let позволять. 

The doctor made me take the medicine. 
Врач заставил меня принять лекарство. 

 



 

EXERCISES 
I. Change the sentences using Complex Object after “to know; to expect; to 

think; to consider” 
Model: I know that he is a great scientist. – I know him to be a great scientist. 
1. I expect that my students will be interested in English.  
2. Patients expect that their doctors will take good care of them. 
3. I expected that he would understand your problem and help you to solve it. 
4. We expected that she would behave quite differently. 
5. I expect that you will pay more attention to your duties. 
6. He knows that my mother is a very kind woman.  
7. I know that you love music. 
8. I know that my friend is a just man. 
9. I know that the symptom of  Stchetkin-Blumburg confirms the presence of 

acute peritonitis.  
10. Everybody knows that acute suppurative appendicitis is dangerous to life. 
11. Everybody knows that kind words and hearty attitude heal better than 

remedies. 
12. I expect that you will join our excursion.  
13. The doctor expects that he will undergo a course of treatment twice a year. 
14. I expect that they will cope with their work very well. 
15. We expect that they will sign the contract.  
16. We expect that the contract will be signed in the near future.  
17. I consider that he is a great man. 
18. I consider that they are smart students. 
19. I consider that I am right.  
20. She knows that she is good at playing the piano.  
 
II. Translate into English using Complex Object after “to know; to hope; to expect” 
1. Я рассчитываю, что сдам экзамены хорошо. 
2. Он рассчитывал, что преподаватель похвалит его.  
3. Он не рассчитывал, что она будет жить в общежитии. 
4. Мы знали, что он сильный студент. 
5. Мы не рассчитывали, что вы организуете концерт сами. 
6. Я не ожидала, что он напишет такие прекрасные стихи. 
7. Я не ожидала, что это случится так скоро. 
8. Мы рассчитывали, что исследовательская работа поможет нам в будущем. 
9. Мы рассчитывали, что врач примет нас.  
10. Хирург надеялся, что наружная рана будет заживать хорошо. 
11. Врач надеялся, что больной скоро придет в сознание.  
12. Наши студенты хотят, чтобы я прочитал доклад о последних 

достижениях  в области хирургического лечения болезней сердца.  
13. Я рассчитываю, что ты напишешь мне письмо. 

 



 

III. Translate into English using Complex Object after “to want; would like to” 
1. Я хочу,чтобы вы записались к доктору Иванову на 5 часов. 
2. Мне бы хотелось, чтобы вы приехали в Гомель. 
3. Мои родители хотят, чтобы я хорошо окончила медуниверситет. 
4. Нашим родителям и преподавателям хотелось бы, чтобы мы стали 

вдумчивыми врачами.  
5. Она не хочет, чтобы я уехал из Белоруссии. 
6. Мы хотим, чтобы наши англоговорящие коллеги приехали сюда.  
7. Вам бы хотелось, чтобы я рассказал вам эту историю? 
8. Мне бы хотелось, чтобы вы посещали какой-нибудь научный кружок.  
9. Простите, я не хотела, чтобы вы меня ждали.  
10. Я хочу, чтобы все это прочитали.  
11. Мне бы хотелось, чтобы этот хирург оперировал ее.  
12. Я хочу, чтобы ты сделала это сама.  
13. Он хочет, чтобы мы зашли к нему сегодня. 
14. Я хочу, чтобы ты поправился как можно скорее.  
15. Она любит, чтобы обед был вовремя.  
16. Я хотела бы, чтобы эту статью опубликовали. 
17. Она хочет, чтобы ее послали на конференцию.  
18. Я бы хотела, чтобы мне выдали больничный. 
19. Ты бы хотела, чтобы на тебя больше обращали внимание?  
 
IV. Translate into English using Complex Object after “to like; to hate”
1. Я люблю, когда вы работаете внимательно. 
2. Она не любит, когда я с ней спорю. 
3. Она не любит, чтобы мы приходили поздно.  
4. Она терпеть не может, когда мы опаздываем.  
5. Наш преподаватель любит, когда мы задаем вопросы. 
6. Я ненавижу, когда ты забываешь свои обязанности.  
7. Папа любит, когда я говорю по-английски. 
8. Я люблю наблюдать, как врач ставит диагноз. 
9. Она любит, когда врач назначает ей массаж. 
10. Я люблю, когда они приглашают меня погулять на свежем воздухе.  
11. Мы любим наблюдать, как лебеди плавают в пруде. 
 
V. Read and translate the sentences with Complex Object after “to order; to 

ask; to allow” 
1. The teacher allowed us to use our dictionaries. 
2. The doctor ordered the patient to be hospitalized.  
3. Father ordered his son to take a shower twice a day.  
4. Mother asked for her daughter to clean the room. 
5. The dean ordered the students to hand in the certificates.  

 



 

6. The doctor asked for the patient`s card to be brought.  
7. The doctor asked  for the nurse to write out a certificate.  
8. The doctor asked for the certificate to be written out.  
9. She ordered the analyses to be made. 
 
VI. Change the sentences using Complex Object with the Infinitive after “to 

see; to hear; to notice; to feel”
Model: The doctor touched the boy`s leg. The boy felt it. 
            The boy felt the doctor touch his leg. 
1. Pete brought some flowers. His friends saw it.  
2. Shall we hear it if the telephone rings?  
3. Did you see how our group took part in the concert? 
4. I saw him. He removed the appendix.  
5. I heard him. He asked for help.  
6. I noticed that Mary went up and spoke to the stranger. 
7. I noticed that this ointment gave an instant relief. 
8. I noticed that she coughed very often. 
9. She felt that her pulse was accelerated.  
10. He felt that the trouble troubled him. 
11. We heard that she complained of a bad headache. 
12. The students watched how the surgeons put the stitches in the wound.  
13. He heard that someone called his name.  
14. She felt that somebody touched her on the shoulder.  
15. We saw that he suffered from the ulcer of the stomach.  
16. I have never heard that this man complained.  
 

VII. Translate the sentences into English using Complex Object after “to make” 
1. Участковый врач заставил больного сделать рентген.  
2. Когда врач услышал влажные хрипы, он заставил женщину лечь в 

больницу.  
3. Родители заставили своего сына заниматься спортом.  
4. Врач заставил больных ждать себя слишком долго. 
5. Мы заставили свою подругу записаться к врачу.  
6. Пожалуйста, не заставляйте меня пить молоко.  
7. Когда я заставлю себя делать зарядку? 
8. Почему вы не заставили сына сделать домашнее задание? 
9. Заставьте ее надеть пальто: сегодня очень холодно.  
10. Преподаватель заставил студентов переписать работу. 
11. Что заставило вас выбрать эту профессию?  
12. Это заставило меня подумать, как исправить ошибку. 
13. Доктор заставил меня принять лекарство. 
 

 



 

VIII. Translate into Russian. Pay attention whether Participle or Infinitive 
is used in Complex Object. 

1. I saw him enter the room.  
2. I saw him entering the room.  
3. I noticed him smile.  
4. I noticed him smiling. 
5. I heard them talk about their patients. 
6. I heard them talking.  
7. Mother watched her child sleeping peacefully. 
8. I saw them fishing. 
9. I saw the girl dancing in the stage. 
10. Did you see her smiling at you? 
11. He was so weak that he felt his knees shaking.  
12. I felt Nick put his hand on my shoulder.  
13. Nobody noticed him come in and sit down.  
14. I felt her tremble.  
15. I saw him order some drugs for injections.  
16. I saw him ordering some drugs for injections.  

IX. Translate into English, using Complex Object with Infinitive or Participle. 
1. Больные видели, что врач лечит их очень внимательно.  
2. Больной заметил, как аккуратно сестра перевязывала рану.  
3. Я видела, как они слушают классическую музыку. 
4. Мы видели, что он проводит много времени у компьютера. 
5. Мы видели, что он часто кашляет и чихает. 
6. Мы заметили, что она ждет вас в коридоре. 
7. Мы видели, что она страдает от одышки.  
8. Мы видели, как он заботится о своих больных. 
9. Мы видели, что она остановила процесс воспаления в легких. 
10. Мы видели, что она проходит курс лечения в областной больнице.  
11. Вы когда-нибудь слышали,как он говорит по-испански?  
NOTE: 
I want the work to be done = I want the work done. 
X. Translate into Russian. 
1. If you want things done well, do them yourself.  
2. I`d like it to be made clear to me. 
3. He wanted his letters sent at once.  
4. I don`t want my papers looked through. 
5. She didn`t want her child taken to hospital. 
6. She gave him some papers and said that the client wanted them signed.  
7. The teacher wants our homework to be prerared well.  
8. Would you like your luggage carried upstairs?  

 



 

XI. Translate into English using Complex Object. 
1. Я хочу, чтобы этот эксперимент провели сегодня. 
2. Хирург хочет,чтобы больного подготовили к операции немедленно. 
3. Он хотел, чтобы ему сняли электрокардиограмму. 
4. Она хочет, чтобы лекции посещали все студенты.  
5. Он хотел, чтобы его брата госпитализировали. 
6. Она хотела, чтобы ее работу проверили сейчас же. 
7. Он хотел, чтобы его рану перевязали.  
8. Я хотела, чтобы заказали лекарства по рецепту. 
 
To have something done 
XII. Read and translate the sentences on the given above construction. 
1. I must have my hair cut. 
2. I must have my watch repaired.  
3. I must have my photo taken.  
4. I must have a new dress made. 
5. I want to have my hair cut. 
6. Have you had your hair cut?  
7. Have you had your watch repaired? 
8. Have you had your photo taken?  
9. Have you had a new dress made?  
10. When did you have your hair cut? 
11. When did you have your watch repaired? 
12. When did you have your photo taken?  
13. When did you have a new dress made?  
14. Where do you usually have your hair cut? 
15. Where do you usually have your dresses made? 
16. Where do you usually have your photo taken. 
 
XIII. Translate into English. 
1. Где вы шьете платья? 
2. Я хочу сфотографироваться. 
3. Он подстригся вчера.  
4. Когда вы сфотографировались? 
5. Когда вам починили машину?  
6. Где вы стрижетесь?  
7. Ваша мама уже сшила новое платье? 
8. Когда она подстриглась?  
 
XIV. Translate into Russian. Pay attention to Complex Object 
1. I shall have your taxi kept at the door.  
2. I meant to have this dress altered but I never did.  

 



 

3. She had no photographs of herself taken since her childhood.  
4. They had some dinner brought. 
5. She had the children looked after in the evening when she went out. 
6. I must have these shoes mended. 
7. I shall have my son taught music.  
 
XV. Choose the correct form of the Infinitive in Complex Object. 
1. The doctor wanted the patient… a) to examine; b) to be examined; c) being 

examined. 
2. There are a lot of people who expect your country … the same as their own. 

a) not to be; b) not being; c) not be.  
3. Did you hear the chairman … an announcement? a) to make; b) making; c) 

be made. 
4. When I was waiting in the hall, I saw a girl … with a file in her hand. a) 

came out; b) to come out; c) come out.  
5. Nobody expected the president of the company … to the party. a) coming; 

b) to come; c) come.  
6. I saw him … round the corner and … . a) turn,disappear; b) to turn, to 

disappear; c) turning, disappearing. 
7. She noticed the children … befind the tree but pretended to see nothing. a) 

hiding; b) to hide; c) to be hidden.  
8. I want his article … in November. a) to publish; b) to be published; c) 

publishing. 
9. He did not expect her … about it. a) to be asked; b) ask; c) asking.  
10. We did not want his speech … . a) to interrupt; b) to be interrupted; c) 

interrupt. 
11. We saw the stitches  … .a) to take out; b) to be taken out; c) taken out.  
12. I should like  … . a) to discharge; b) to be discharged; c) discharged. 
 
XVI. Revision. 
1. Я хочу, чтобы эту музыку играли каждый день.  
2. Я хочу, чтобы зарядку делали каждое утро. 
3. Аня не ожидала, что практика будет такая интересная.  
4. Он наблюдал, как мы накладываем швы.  
5. Она видела, как студенты несли больного на носилках.  
6. Я ненавижу, когда люди говорят так цинично (cynically).  
7. Мне не нравится, что ты повторяешь это каждый день.  
8. Мы надеемся, что это остановит кровотечение. 
9. Учитель заставил его повторить правило.  
10. Студенты наблюдали, как хирург закрывал рану послойно. 
11. Я видел, как они вместе готовились к операции. 
12. Когда она сшила это платье?  

 



 

13. Когда ты сошьешь себе новое платье?  
14. Я бы хотела, чтобы вы всегда получали удовольствие от своей работы. 
15. Хирург разрешил нам помогать ему. 
16. Я чувствовала, как аккуратно медсестра сняла повязку. 
17. Они наблюдали, как мы вчера проводили опыт.  
18. Больной попросил, чтобы его выписали как можно скорее.  
19. Мы видели, что врач предотвратил летальный исход. 
20. Декан заставил студента не пропускать лекции.  
21. Мы слышали, что они принимают активное участие в общественной жизни. 
22. Хирург попросил приготовить инструменты.  
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